

An analysis of the impact of COVID-19 restrictions on air quality in the Wellington region

Tamsin Mitchell Environmental Science Department

For more information, contact the Greater Wellington Regional Council:

Masterton

PO Box 41

Wellington PO Box 11646 T 04 384 5708 F 04 385 6960 www.gw.govt.nz

T 06 378 2484 F 06 378 2146 www.gw.govt.nz GW/ESCI-T-21/37

June 2021

www.gw.govt.nz info@gw.govt.nz

Report prepared by:	T A Mitchell	Senior Environmental Scientist, Air Quality	T. Antchell
Report reviewed by:	Dr N Talbot	Independent consultant and University of Auckland researcher	
Report approved for release by:	L Baker	Manager, Environmental Science	LJboler Date: 30/6/2021

DISCLAIMER

This report has been prepared by Environmental Science staff of Greater Wellington Regional Council (GWRC) and as such does not constitute Council policy.

In preparing this report, the authors have used the best currently available data and have exercised all reasonable skill and care in presenting and interpreting these data. Nevertheless, GWRC does not accept any liability, whether direct, indirect, or consequential, arising out of the provision of the data and associated information within this report. Furthermore, as GWRC endeavours to continuously improve data quality, amendments to data included in, or used in the preparation of, this report may occur without notice at any time.

GWRC requests that if excerpts or inferences are drawn from this report for further use, due care should be taken to ensure the appropriate context is preserved and is accurately reflected and referenced in subsequent written or verbal communications. Any use of the data and information enclosed in this report, for example, by inclusion in a subsequent report or media release, should be accompanied by an acknowledgement of the source.

The report may be cited as:

Mitchell, T.A. 2021. An analysis of the impact of COVID-19 restrictions on air quality in the Wellington region. Greater Wellington Regional Council, Publication No. GW/ESCI-T-21/37, Wellington.

Executive summary

The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in restrictions on people's usual activities and travel patterns. This report investigates changes in air quality from March to September 2020 during lockdown and subsequent alert levels compared to a business-as-usual scenario. Air quality measurements from Wellington city (alongside the urban motorway), suburban Upper Hutt and the rural town of Masterton were used. The purpose of the analysis was to examine the usefulness of local air quality monitoring data to detect any temporary or long-term changes in traffic and home heating emissions arising from behavioural change under the different Alert Level restrictions. Furthering our understanding of the relationship between human behaviour, emissions and pollutant concentrations can inform any future management strategies designed to improve air quality and community health. In this study, statistical modelling using machine learning was used to control for the confounding effect of meteorology on air pollutant levels. This method allowed air pollutant levels measured during the Alert Level periods to be compared to levels that would have occurred under business-as-usual (BAU) travel and home heating patterns.

The study highlighted that differences in air quality from BAU varied by pollutant and by monitoring site due to local differences in emission source contributions from traffic, home heating and natural sources. During Level 4 lockdown directly emitted traffic exhaust pollutants (oxides of nitrogen and black carbon) were reduced by 71% at the Wellington city roadside monitoring site commensurate with the approximately 80% reduction in state highway volumes. Reductions in nitrogen dioxide (a harmful regulated pollutant) were much lower than the other traffic-related air pollutants and rebounded to higher than expected levels in Level 1 despite no significant increase in state highway traffic compared to the previous year.

Particulate matter concentrations at the roadside were less affected during Level 4 showing a 17% decrease attributed to lower levels of road dust and traffic exhaust emissions as marine aerosol (sea salt) is estimated to make up at least 30% of particulate matter and this contribution is unaffected by changes in travel patterns.

Masterton had a 30% increase in PM_{2.5} during Alert Level 2 compared to previous years which was attributed to a combination of more stay at home behaviour and therefore higher use of solid fuel heating combined with a greater frequency of low wind speed periods compared to previous years. Upper Hutt also appeared to have an increased wood burning contribution due to much higher than expected overnight carbon monoxide levels from L3 to L1, although there was not a noticeable increase in winter PM10 levels despite lower than average wind speed.

Contents

Execut	Executive summary	
1.	Introduction	1
1.1	Purpose and context	1
1.2	Study objectives	1
2.	Background	2
2.1	Traffic-related air pollutants	2
2.1.1	Gaseous traffic-related pollutants	2
2.1.2	Black carbon and particulates from traffic	4
2.1.3	Traffic activity, emissions and air quality	5
2.2	Particulate matter from home heating, natural and other sources	5
3.	Methods	7
3.1	Air monitoring site locations	7
3.2	Data sources	8
3.2.1	Air pollutant measurements	8
3.2.2	Meteorological measurements	9
3.2.3	Traffic counts	9
3.3	Modelling to predict BAU air pollutant concentrations	10
4.	Results	13
4.1	Evaluation of BAU pollutant modelling	13
4.1.1	Wellington central	13
4.1.2	Upper Hutt and Masterton West	14
4.2	Observed concentrations of pollutant gases and black carbon during COVID-19 Alert Levels compared to BAU-predictions	14
4.3	Observed concentrations of PM ₁₀ and PM _{2.5} during COVID-19 Alert	
	Levels compared to long-term mean	28
4.4	Traffic volumes during COVID-19 Alert Levels compared to 2019	31
4.5	Meteorology during COVID-19 Alert Levels compared to previous years	32
4.6	NO ₂ passive diffusion tube monitoring	33
5.	Discussion	36
5.1	Changes in black carbon and NOx during COVID-19 Alert Levels	36
5.2	Changes in nitrogen dioxide and ozone during COVID-19 Alert Levels	37
5.3	Changes in carbon monoxide during COVID-19 Alert Levels	41
5.4	Changes in PM ₁₀ and PM _{2.5} during COVID-19 Alert Levels	42
5.5	Study limitations	44
6.	Conclusion	46
Ackno	wledgements	48
Refere	ences	49

Appendix A1: Wellington Central air monitoring site	53
Appendix A2: Upper Hutt air monitoring site	54
Appendix A3: Masterton West air monitoring site	55
Appendix A4: Wellington Central variation in black carbon by source	56
Appendix A5: Air pollutant datasets by air monitoring site	57
Appendix A6: Wind roses	58
Appendix A7: Predictive models	59
Appendix A8: Percentage differences – gases and black carbon	60
Appendix A9: Correlations between pollutants and vehicle counts	62
Appendix A10: Observed and long term average PM levels by Alert Levels	63
Appendix A11: PM box plots	64
Appendix A.12: Wind roses by alert level period	67
Appendix A.13: Meteorology: wind speed and temperature averages	73
Appendix A14: Meteorology: wind speed and temperature diurnals	74
Appendix 15: Correlation between 2019 and 2020 passive NO ₂ monitoring results	76

1. Introduction

1.1 Purpose and context

In 2020, movement restrictions and disruptions arising from NZ's response to the COVID-19 pandemic curtailed people's usual activities from March through to June and then again in August. These restrictions provided a unique opportunity to evaluate how air quality was affected by abrupt changes in traffic-related emissions and any other emission sources. Quantifying how levels of air pollutants associated with different emission sources responded over the COVID-19 travel and social restrictions deepens our understanding of the strengths and limitations of using air quality measurements to infer underlying emissions trends.

Specifically, this research investigated changes in traffic-related air pollution related to changes in traffic intensity during COVID-19 at a roadside in Wellington city. The research also looked at how traffic-related and home-heating related pollutants varied at an urban background site in Upper Hutt and in Masterton, a rural town with high use of solid fuels for home heating.

Statistical modelling using machine learning was used to control for the impact of meteorology on air pollutant levels. This method allowed air pollutant levels measured during the Alert Level periods to be compared to levels that would have occurred under business-as-usual (BAU) travel and home heating patterns by removing the confounding effects of meteorology.

1.2 Study objectives

- Investigate any changes in air quality measured at a city roadside, an urban residential and in a rural town during Alert Level 4 "lockdown" and subsequent Alert Levels.
- Apply a machine learning statistical technique to account for influence of meteorology on observed air pollution levels during the periods that Alert Levels were in force.
- Assess usefulness of local air quality monitoring data to detect any temporary or long-term changes in traffic and home heating emissions arising from changes in people's travel patterns.

2. Background

2.1 Traffic-related air pollutants

Traffic-related air pollution is a complex mixture of gases and particles with differing chemical, physical and toxicological properties. Exposure to traffic-related air pollutants are associated with exacerbation of asthma, respiratory symptoms, impaired lung function, and increased risk of cardiovascular disease and premature death (Health Effects Institute, 2010). Key indicators of traffic-related air pollution including, nitrogen dioxide, carbon monoxide, black carbon, particulate matter and ozone, are discussed below.

Greater Wellington regional council (GWRC) has a traffic-related air quality monitoring programme based on two permanent monitoring sites, a busy roadside in Wellington city and at an urban residential background site in Upper Hutt. These sites are used to track long term trends, investigate relationships between pollutants and to confirm ongoing compliance with national regulatory standards and guidelines (Mitchell, 2020). To extend the spatial coverage of these two monitoring stations, GWRC has progressively established a network of passive diffusion tubes to track trends in annual average nitrogen dioxide (NO₂) as an indicator of trends in regional traffic emissions for future GWRC Regional Land Transport Plan reporting (Mitchell, 2017).

2.1.1 Gaseous traffic-related pollutants

Nitrogen dioxide (NO_2) is a harmful air pollutant derived from fuel combustion. NO₂ levels measured at Wellington central and Upper Hutt monitoring sites meet national guidelines and standards (Mitchell, 2020).

Generally, only a small amount of NO₂ is directly emitted in exhaust emissions. Most NO₂ is formed as a secondary pollutant when nitric oxide (NO) produced during high temperature fuel combustion is rapidly oxidised by ozone (O₃) in outdoor air. The reaction between NO and O₃ continues until either the O₃ is depleted. Once formed NO₂ can then be broken back down to NO the presence of strong sunlight. Collectively NO and NO₂ are known as NOx. Although all motor vehicles emit NOx, heavy-duty (diesel) vehicles emit more NOx per vehicle than petrol-powered vehicles.

Ozone in the upper atmosphere protects us from harmful levels of UV radiation. Some of the naturally occurring ozone from the upper atmosphere is transported to the lower atmosphere where it can be known as the 'background' concentration. Background ozone measured away from roadside sites has a marked seasonal cycle with a winter maxima and summer minima as well as significant day-to-day differences due to synoptic scale meteorological variability¹.

High concentrations ozone can also be formed at ground level through a photochemical reaction involving emissions of NOx and volatile organic compounds (VOCs) usually from traffic sources. This can lead to elevated ozone

¹ https://niwa.co.nz/atmosphere/our-data/trace-gas-plots

downwind of a large area emissions source under meteorological conditions conducive to photochemical activity, including sufficient sunshine, high temperatures and low wind speeds (McKendry, 1996). Fortunately, ground-level ozone concentrations in NZ are generally low relative to the National Environmental Standard for Air Quality and when compared to large overseas cities (Ministry for the Environment and Stats NZ, 2018).

Ozone has been measured at the Wellington central station since late 2017 to provide information to help explain local NO₂ formation. Peak NOx emissions in the morning commuter rush-hour result in the quenching of locally available background ozone as NO is oxidised to NO₂. Therefore, the production of NO₂ from NO is ozone limited. During the weekend, when NOx and NO₂ levels are lower than during weekdays, proportionally more NO₂ is produced for a given level of NOx as there is less ozone quenching (Figure 2.1). Therefore levels of ozone measured in Wellington central roadside are higher in the weekend compared to weekdays. Ozone also shows seasonality with the highest levels in spring which is likely related to stratospheric intrusion, when naturally occurring ozone aloft is transported to ground level during periods of strong winds (Adeeb & Shooter, 2003).



Figure 2.1: Wellington Central air monitoring station temporal variation of NOx, nitrogen dioxide (NO₂) and ozone (O₃) from 2017 to 2019

Petrol vehicles are the main source of carbon monoxide which is directly emitted in tail pipe exhaust. Although carbon monoxide is a harmful and regulated pollutant, roadside levels have lowered dramatically over the past decade in New Zealand due to improvement in engine technology resulting in lower emissions (Bluett et al., 2016). Carbon monoxide is still monitored at roadside because it is useful for tracking trends in traffic as it is correlated with traffic intensity and is a good indicator of emission trends in the petrol fleet.

Carbon monoxide is also emitted by wood burners, but can generally be distinguished from traffic sources as the peak emissions occur much later in the evening than the commuter peak travel time.

2.1.2 Black carbon and particulates from traffic

Fine particles known as PM_{2.5} (aerodynamic diameter < 2.5 μ m) are emitted by vehicle exhaust (primarily diesel) due to incomplete combustion. Most of these exhaust particles are ultra-fine in size (ie, less than 0.1 μ m) and therefore do not make up a large fraction of measured PM_{2.5} mass concentrations. PM_{2.5} at roadside sites also contains particles not directly produced by tail pipe exhausts, such as, brake, tyre and road wear which create re-suspended road dust due to the turbulence of moving vehicles and from wind. These road dust particles make up a larger fraction of PM₁₀.

At the Wellington Central air monitoring site a recent short term pilot study in January and February 2020, in which GNS Science analysed elemental composition of air particulate filters, found that PM_{2.5} was on average made up of 26% black carbon, 26% secondary sulphate, 28% sea salt, 19% soil and 1% smoke. The relatively high contribution of non-traffic sources to PM_{2.5} at this location reduce its usefulness as a specific indicator for traffic-related particulates.

Black carbon or soot is a light-absorbing, carbon-containing constituent of PM_{2.5} formed by the incomplete combustion of fossil fuels, biomass and biofuels (European Environment Agency, 2013). Main sources of black carbon include vehicles (particularly diesel powered), shipping, home-heating (wood or coal burning) and open burning (eg, wildfires or burning of agricultural waste). Diesel-powered vehicles, especially heavy commercial vehicles, are very high emitters of black carbon compared to petrol vehicles (Davy et al. 2011).

Black carbon and correlated co-emissions appear causally related with cardiovascular and lung cancer deaths (Grahame et al. 2014). Studies of short-term health effects show that the associations with BC are more robust than those with PM_{2.5} suggesting that BC is a better indicator of harmful particulate from combustion sources (particularly traffic) than un-differentiated PM mass (Janssen et al. 2011). Although there are no health-based guidelines for black carbon, black carbon is thought to be a universal carrier for other harmful components of traffic-related air pollution (World Health Organization, 2012).

There are also climate concerns regarding black carbon emissions. Black carbon, because of its dark colour is very good at absorbing heat and in the atmosphere it acts as short-term climate warming agent (Ministry for the Environment, 2018). Therefore, reductions in black carbon can more quickly mitigate changes in the climate compared to carbon dioxide which persists for hundreds to thousands of years in the atmosphere (Ramanathan & Carmichael, 2008).

2.1.3 Traffic activity, emissions and air quality

Linking air quality trends at a monitoring site to locally-generated traffic emissions at any specific monitoring site is complex and challenging. Bluett et al. (2016) describe the main long term drivers of air pollutant trends as:

- (a) Number of vehicle trips per day past the site
- (b) Fleet profile (vehicle age distribution, vehicle type (eg, light duty, heavy duty), fuel type (eg, petrol, diesel)
- (c) Driving conditions (congested or free-flowing)
- (d) Real-world emissions performance of vehicles (effectiveness of emission control technology and fuel quality).

Other urban design features, such as building heights, road width proximity to intersections, traffic lights and number of bus stops along a street also strongly influence spatial variation in nitrogen dioxide in central Auckland (Miskell et al. 2015).

As the relationship between traffic and measured air pollution levels is strongly influenced by weather conditions, it can be difficult to detect changes in air pollution relating to changes in traffic intensity as opposed to meteorologically-driven changes (Anh et al., 1995).

Wind speed and direction, temperature, humidity and atmospheric stability are important factors affecting near-road air quality data. Wind speed and wind direction are particularly important as elevated concentrations can occur under low wind speeds and when the monitoring station is downwind of the roadside emission source. Temperature and relative humidity also affect the generation, transformation and transport of vehicle emissions (Baldauf et al., 2009). Meteorological conditions also affect atmospheric chemical reactions, for example, the formation of nitrogen dioxide from precursor emissions (Kroll et al., 2020).

2.2 Particulate matter from home heating, natural and other sources

Particulate matter concentrations, measured as PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5}, are pollutants with significant adverse health impacts from long-term and short-term exposure (Ministry for the Environment, 2018). In terms of health effects, PM is important because there is no evidence of a safe exposure level or a threshold below which no adverse health effects occur (World Health Organization, 2013). Therefore, reducing particulate matter, even when air quality guidelines are met, results in health benefits for a population. In the Greater Wellington region, Masterton fails to meet the short-term standard (NES-AQ²) for PM₁₀ and the World Health Organization guidelines for PM_{2.5} (World Health Organization, 2006) for due to high level of emissions from solid fuels used for home heating.

² Resource Management (National Environmental Standards for Air Quality) Regulations 2004

Source apportionment studies of air particulate matter samples at various sites in the region identified domestic fires, motor vehicle emissions and secondary sulphate as the main contributors to measured levels of fine particulate matter (Davy, 2007). The main contributors to the coarse fraction (PM_{2.5-10}) were found to be re-suspended road dust containing brake, tyre and road surface wear, crustal matter associated with wind-blown dust from construction, unpaved areas and soils; and marine aerosol from long range transport from surrounding oceans (Davy, 2007). The relative contribution of each source to observed particulate concentrations depends on the monitoring site location and seasonality in emission sources (eg, winter wood burning) and the influence of meteorology (eg, marine aerosol concentrations increase with wind speed) (Davy & Trompetter, 2018). Figure 2.2 and Figure 2.3 shows the differences in annual particulate matter composition found at Upper Hutt and Masterton West air monitoring sites.



Figure 2.2: Annual source contribution to PM₁₀ measured at Upper Hutt air monitoring station (2000-2002) (Davy, 2007)



Figure 2.3: Annual source contribution to PM₁₀ measured at Masterton West air monitoring station (2002-2004) (Davy, 2007)

3. Methods

3.1 Air monitoring site locations

Air quality and meteorological measurements were obtained from Wellington Central (urban roadside), Upper Hutt (urban background residential) and Masterton West (urban background residential) air monitoring sites shown in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1: Air monitoring site locations: Wellington Central, Upper Hutt and Masterton West

Wellington central monitoring site is located alongside the Wellington Urban Motorway (SH1) close to the intersection of Willis Street and Vivian Street (Appendix A.1). Figure 3.2 shows the location of the station with respect to local roads and available traffic counts for 2019. Approximately 100 public bus trips per weekday pass the Wellington Central monitoring site along Willis Street northbound (<u>https://www.metlink.org.nz/stop/7711</u>). The buses along this route are predominately EURO VI models.



Figure 3.2: Location of Wellington central and annual average daily traffic counts (AADT) for 2019. Wellington urban motorway (Terrace Tunnel southbound NZTA3 Ref 01N11074) and Karo Drive (Terrace Tunnel northbound NZTA Ref 01N21074) and Willis Street (mobileroad.org).

The Upper Hutt monitoring site is situated in a suburban park away from the direct influence of roadside emissions (Appendix A.2) and therefore this site is considered to represent the urban background for traffic-related air pollutants. During winter, urban Upper Hutt is impacted by low level wood burning emissions, and therefore meets the PM₁₀ air quality standard. The Masterton West monitoring site is located on the grounds of a local high school and is strongly influenced by home heating emissions during the winter months and therefore fails to meet the PM₁₀ air quality standard (Appendix A.3).

3.2 Data sources

3.2.1 Air pollutant measurements

All air pollutant measurements available from each air monitoring site from 1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020 were validated and reported as 1-hour averages (Appendix A4). Wellington central had 10 days missing record for wind speed and NO₂ and NOx during Alert Level 4 due to malfunctioning equipment.

³ https://www.nzta.govt.nz/resources/state-highway-traffic-volumes/

The black carbon measurements were split into fossil fuel derived and biomassburning derived concentrations using the AE33 default source apportionment model based on Sandradewi et al. (2008). The identification of the wood burning component of black carbon is based on the principle that organic compounds in aerosols from wood burning absorb light more efficiently in shorter wavelengths compared to aerosols from fossil fuel burning. Although the BC source apportionment results have not been verified for this monitoring location, for instance, by comparing with co-measured chemical markers of wood smoke, plots of winter and summer concentrations are temporally consistent with a BC biomass burning component from winter evening wood smoke (Appendix A5).

Monthly averages for nitrogen dioxide were obtained from Waka Kotahi NZTA and GWRC's passive NO₂ diffusion tube monitoring (NZ Transport Agency, 2020⁴). Passive tube measurements are less accurate than the continuous method and typically overestimate concentrations by 33% compared to reference monitoring (Kuschel & Sridhar, 2020). Despite these limitations they usefully extend spatial coverage of air pollution monitoring data and are a relatively inexpensive and reliable method for estimating long term trends (Air Quality Expert Group, 2004).

3.2.2 Meteorological measurements

Co-located meteorological measurements were obtained from the three monitoring sites. Wind flows across Wellington are almost always from either N-NW or S-SE but how these winds are experienced locally varies due to funnelling through complex topography and between tall buildings. Although the Wellington city area is close to the coast with The Wellington central monitoring site is sheltered by a nearby multi-storey building which blocks wind from the NW-N-NE sectors. Therefore, wind speed and direction measured at this site are highly localised and will not apply to other parts of Wellington city. Due to local sheltering effects and low mast height of 6m, mean wind speeds measured at Wellington central are much lower than recorded at Metservice weather station at Kelburn which has a 10m mast. A mast height of 10m is required to meet World Meteorological Organization standards. Wind roses for 2017 to 2019 are shown for Wellington central, Upper Hutt, Masterton West and for the Kelburn weather stations (Appendix A6).

3.2.3 Traffic counts

Hourly traffic counts were downloaded from NZTA's State Highway Traffic Monitoring System (TMS). These counts were aggregated to average daily totals (midnight to midnight) for use in the analysis. Annual average daily traffic (AADT) estimates for local roads were obtained from Waka Kotahi NZTA⁵. Locations of Waka Kotahi traffic monitoring sites are shown in relation to Wellington Central air monitoring site in Figure 3.3.

⁴ https://www.nzta.govt.nz/resources/air-quality-monitoring/

⁵ https://www.nzta.govt.nz/resources/state-highway-traffic-volumes/



Figure 3.3: Location of NZTA regional continuous traffic counting sites on state highway at Ngauranga (red) and north of the Terrace Tunnel (blue). The location of Wellington central air monitoring station is shown in yellow.

3.3 Modelling to predict BAU air pollutant concentrations

A critical issue for evaluating changes in air quality is determining whether the change is due to variations in meteorology or emissions intensity (Grange & Carslaw, 2019). A simple example, is the impact of winter meteorological conditions on traffic-related pollutant concentrations which are higher in winter than in summer. Building predictive models to explain air quality is difficult due to the complex interactions between emissions, meteorology and atmospheric chemistry. Machine learning techniques, such as random forest (RF) regression, have been successfully developed and used to detect effects of interventions on air quality trends by controlling for the effect of meteorology through 'meteorological normalisation' (Grange & Carslaw, 2019) and modelling short-term relationships between traffic and air pollution (Kamińska, 2018).

More recently, RF modelling has been used to quantify the effects of the COVID-19 lockdown on air quality, for example, in NZ (Talbot et al. 2021), the United Kingdom (Jephcote et al., 2020), Austria (Lovrić et al., 2020) and in Switzerland (EMPA, 2020). This approach trains a random forest model to explain pollutant concentrations based on meteorological and time variables for a training period under past BAU conditions (eg, 2016 to 2019). The model built on the past training period is then used to predict pollutant concentrations using observed meteorological and time variables for the periods of COVID-19 restrictions in 2020. This approach accounts for the effect of any unusual or atypical meteorological conditions during 2020 which can obscure underlying air quality trends. RF models were trained using 1-hour air pollution observations (Appendix A4) and meteorological and time variables (Table 3.1) up to 29 February 2020 to capture pre COVID-19 BAU emissions patterns. Traffic emissions (eg, kg/hr of NOx emitted) were not available as a model inputs, instead hour of the day was used to capture the diurnal variation in traffic emissions. Day of the year (Julian Day) was used to represent seasonal patterns in emissions, for example, solid fuel emissions which are present during winter.

The RF modelling was carried out using the *rmweather* R package (Grange et al. 2018; Grange & Carslaw, 2019) which uses the underlying *ranger* R package (Wright & Ziegler, 2017). The default *rmweather* hyperparameters were used; 0.8 training fraction, 300 trees grown for the forest, minimum node size of 5 and 300 random samples (with replacement) for the predictions (Grange & Carslaw, 2019). The RF BAU models (2016 to 2019) were trained on 80% of the data (randomly selected) so that 20% of the data is withheld as a testing data set. In this way the RF model trained on 80% of the input variables can then be used to predict pollutant values from the 20% of data that was not used in the model training. This feature allowed examination of the model residuals (the observed pollutant values minus the predicted values) in the test data set to determine whether there were any biases in prediction under the BAU scenario that might affect the validity of any predictions made for 2020 COVID-19 alert levels.

Variable type	Predictors	Description	
Meteorological	Temperature	Degrees Celsius	
	Wind direction	Degrees (true north)	
	Wind speed	m/s	
	Relative humidity	%	
	Barometric pressure	hPa	
Temporal	Unix date	Number of seconds since 1/1/1970. Represents the long-term time trend in air pollutants	
	Julian day	Day of the year, representing seasonal variation	
	Weekday	Day of the week, represents variation by day of the week	
	Hour	Hour of day represents diurnal variation as a proxy for traffic emissions	

 Table 3.1: Meteorological and temporal predictor variables model inputs

Using a similar approach to Jephcote (et al. 2020) and EMPA (2020), the BAU RF models were used to predict or forecast hourly pollutant concentrations from 1 March 2020 to 30 September 2020 using site-specific meteorological observations and time variables. Wind speed is a critical data input for the

predictions, so where wind speed is not available, predictions are not made. This produced a 1 March 2020 to 30 September 2020 time series of 1-hour average observed pollutant concentrations and BAU-predicted pollutant concentrations.

The numerical difference between observed pollutant concentrations and BAUpredicted pollutant concentrations was used to estimate the effect of the COVID-19 movement restrictions on air quality. For each Alert Level period, the difference between predicted 1-hour averages and observed pollutant 1-hour averages was calculated and a paired two-sided Student's t-test (R Core Team, 2020) used to determine whether the average difference between each 1-hour value (observed and predicted) was statistically different from zero at the 95% Confidence Limit.

The 1-hour average observed pollutant concentrations and BAU-predicted pollutant concentrations were also averaged for each Alert Level period (Table 3.2). For each Alert Level period the percentage change (BAU-predicted concentration minus observed concentration divided by BAU-predicted concentration) was used to estimate the reduction or increase in air pollution attributable to changes in emissions occurring under COVID-19. Where this difference was statistically significant (based on the paired Student's t-test for the difference between each 1-hour observed and predicted value) an assessment was made whether this difference was due to changes in emissions intensity. These percentage changes were compared to percentage change in average daily traffic counts (where available) between 2020 and 2019 for each Alert Level period.

Alert Level	Start date	End date
L2	21/3/2020	23/3/2020 13:29
L3	23/3/2020 13:30	25/3/2020 23:59
L4	26/3/2020 00:00 [25/3 11:59]	27/4/2020 23:59
L3	28/4/2020 00:00	13/5/2020 23:59
L2	14/5/2020 00:00	8/6/2020 23:59
L1	9/6/2020 00:00	11/8/2020
L3/L2	12/8/2020 [12:00]	22/9/2020

Table 3.2: Dates Alert Levels in force

4. Results

4.1 Evaluation of BAU pollutant modelling

Models trained on air pollutant measurements, meteorological time variables (1 January 2016 to 30 February 2020) to represent the pre COVID-19 BAU situation performed well for nitrogen dioxide (NO₂), oxides of nitrogen (NOx), carbon monoxide (CO), ozone (O₃) and black carbon (BC) with R² values ranging from 0.70 to 0.88 (Appendix A7).

The accuracy of the BAU model predictions were assessed by looking for any patterns in the 1-hour residuals from 2016 to 2019. All pollutants showed a tendency for under prediction as concentrations increased. There were also temporal variation in the residuals, with under prediction typically on Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday and Friday representing a different emissions pattern than on the weekend and Mondays which are more affected than other days of the week by public holidays.

Models for $PM_{2.5}$ and PM_{10} had reduced explanatory power, with R^2 ranging from 0.45 to 0.66, reflecting that different source components of PM respond differently to the same meteorology, for example, the sea salt component is elevated during high wind conditions, but combustion-derived PM sources are typically much lower under the same conditions. Therefore, RF model BAUpredictions were not made for PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$ and instead average PM concentrations observed during the different Alert Levels were compared to average concentrations observed on the same Julian days from 2016 to 2019.

4.1.1 Wellington central

At this roadside location, hour of the day was the most important explanatory variable for black carbon (fossil fuel), NOx and CO concentration as it was strongly correlated with diurnal traffic flow patterns and therefore traffic emissions. Wind speed was also an important explanatory variable due to the moderate negative correlation between wind speed and pollutant concentrations, ie, lower wind speeds are associated with higher pollutant concentrations due to less effective dispersion conditions. Day of the week, although less important than hour and wind speed, was a predictor for black carbon (fossil fuel) and NOx due to weekday/weekend difference in air pollutant concentrations, most likely due to fewer diesel-powered commercial or heavy vehicles operating on weekends compared to weekdays. BC biomass burning was also dependent on temperature and Julian day reflecting the contribution of winter wood burning. NO₂ showed some dependence on Julian day due to seasonal factors, such as background ozone availability, which may contribute to higher NO₂ levels during winter.

Carbon monoxide was dependent on Unix date due to the strong linear downward trend in this pollutant over time from improvements in the vehicle fleet emissions control technology (Bromley & Gray, 2017). Ozone was dependent on wind speed, but unlike the other pollutants, ozone was positively correlated with wind speed, perhaps reflecting that under higher wind speeds there is enhanced dilution of NOx and therefore less quenching of O₃. Ozone may also be positively correlated with wind speed with wind speed as ozone levels peak during spring (Adeeb & Shooter, 2004) coinciding with spring (September to October) generally being the windiest season (Chappell, 2014).

4.1.2 Upper Hutt and Masterton West

Air pollutant concentrations measured at the Upper Hutt site showed the same dependence on wind speed and hour of day for NOx and NO₂, but with temperature being a more important predictor variable than at Wellington Central. The dependence of CO on temperature and Julian Day reflects the seasonal contribution of winter home heating emissions from wood burning at Upper Hutt and Masterton West.

4.2 Observed concentrations of pollutant gases and black carbon during COVID-19 Alert Levels compared to BAU-predictions

The RF models with R² > 0.75 were used to predict (forecast) black carbon, NOx, NO2, carbon monoxide and ozone hourly concentrations from 1 March 2020 to 30 September 2020. These BAU-predictions were made from 1-hour meteorological data available for each site and temporal variables (ie, hour, Julian day, day of week) except for Unix date. The BAU-predicted and observed pollutant concentrations were then averaged for each Alert Level period. The percentage change⁶ between BAU-predictions and observations and whether the difference between BAU-predictions and observations is statistically significantly different from zero at the 95% confidence level (two-sided, paired Student's t-test) for each pollutant is presented in Appendix A8 and shown in Figures 4.1 and 4.2.

⁶ (BAU-predicted –observed / BAU-predicted) * 100



Figure 4.1: Percentage difference between observed carbon monoxide, nitrogen dioxide and NOx and BAU-predictions across all three sites by Alert Level. Where the percentage difference was not different from zero at the 95% confidence level, the percentage difference is shown as 0%.



Figure 4.2: Percentage difference between observed black carbon (fossilfuel) and ozone and BAU-predictions across at Wellington central by Alert Level. Where the percentage difference was not different from zero at the 95% confidence level, the percentage difference is shown as 0%.

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) were substantially reduced at all sites during L4 compared to BAU-predictions, reflecting the dramatic reduction in traffic volumes. NOx remained lower than predicted for the remainder of the restriction periods, apart from L1 and L3/2 at Wellington central, where NOx levels returned to normal or slightly higher than predicted. Nitrogen dioxide levels were mostly below predicted, but to a much lesser extent than NOx. The exception was during L1 and L3/2 at Wellington central, where NO2 levels were much higher than expected. Interestingly, ozone levels at Wellington central were higher than predicted during L4 and L3/2. Black carbon at Wellington

central showed a similar magnitude of reduction as seen in NOx during L4 and L3, but returned to near-normal levels from L2 onwards. There were differences in carbon monoxide between sites, with Wellington central showing a substantial reduction in L1 and remaining below predicted levels for the remainder of the Alert Levels. Conversely, Upper Hutt and Masterton West showed a much lower reduction during L1 and Upper Hutt recorded higher than expected carbon monoxide levels, particularly during L2.

A more granular picture of how observed pollutant levels differed from BAUpredicted the 1-hour averages were aggregated to 24-hour averages (midnight to midnight) and plotted for each pollutant and monitoring site (Figures 4.3 to 4.13). Deltas or differences between 24-hour average observed pollutant levels and BAU-predicted levels are shown. A positive difference indicates that observed air pollutant levels are higher than expected under BAU for the given weather conditions and a negative difference indicates air pollutants are lower than expected for BAU and the weather conditions. The plots are presented as 7-day moving averages to make the trends easier to visualise.

The moving 7-day averages for BAU-predictions and observations (Figures 4.3 to 4.13) for all pollutants at all sites clearly show the disruption to normal emission patterns during L4. From L2 onwards the BAU-predictions and observations are correlated showing temporal coincidence of peaks and troughs due to dependence on weather conditions which suggests a lower level of emissions but with pollutant levels responding to meteorology as in past years. For Wellington central, the 24-hour average difference between observed black carbon, NOx and NO₂ concentration and BAU-predicted values clearly show the outlier of the 1 June 2020 Queens Birthday Monday public holiday with a high negative value representing lower than expected air pollution, as fewer cars were on the road compared to a 'normal' Monday (Figures 4.3 to 4.5). The Queen's Birthday effect is less noticeable at the urban background monitoring sites in Upper Hutt and Masterton West.



Figure 4.3: Wellington central back carbon (fossil fuel derived). Top left: 7-day moving average observations 1/1/2017 to 30/9/2020. Top right: 7-day moving average observations (orange) and BAU-predicted (grey) 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom left: 24-hour average observations minus BAU-predicted 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom right: 7-day moving average observations minus BAU-predicted 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020.



Figure 4.4: Wellington central nitrogen oxides (NOx). Top left: 7-day moving average observations 1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020. Top right: 7-day moving average observations (orange) and BAU-predicted (grey) 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom left: 24-hour average observations minus BAU-predicted 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom right: 7-day moving average observations minus BAU-predicted 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020.







Figure 4.6: Wellington central carbon monoxide (CO). Top left: 7-day moving average observations 1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020. Top right: 7-day moving average observations (orange) and BAU-predicted (grey) 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom left: 24-hour average observations minus BAU-predicted 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom right: 7-day moving average observations minus BAU-predicted 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020.



Figure 4.7: Wellington central ozone (O₃). Top left: 7-day moving average observations 1/1/2018 to 30/9/2020. Top right: 7-day moving average observations (orange) and BAU-predicted (grey) 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom left: 24-hour average observations minus BAU-predicted 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom right: 7-day moving average observations minus BAU-predicted 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom right: 7-day moving average observations minus BAU-predicted 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020.



Figure 4.8: Upper Hutt nitrogen dioxide (NO2). Top left: 7-day moving average observations 1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020. Top right: 7day moving average observations (orange) and BAU-predicted (grey) 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom left: 24-hour average observations minus BAU-predicted 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom right: 7-day moving average observations minus BAU-predicted 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020.



Figure 4.9: Upper Hutt nitrogen oxides (NOx). Top left: 7-day moving average observations 1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020. Top right: 7-day moving average observations (orange) and BAU-predicted (grey) 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom left: 24-hour average observations minus BAU-predicted 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom right: 7-day moving average observations minus BAU-predicted 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom right: 7-day moving average observations minus BAU-predicted 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020.



Figure 4.10: Upper Hutt carbon monoxide (CO). Top left: 7-day moving average observations 1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020. Top right: 7day moving average observations (orange) and BAU-predicted (grey) 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom left: 24-hour average observations minus BAU-predicted 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom right: 7-day moving average observations minus BAU-predicted 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020.



Figure 4.11: Masterton West nitrogen dioxide (NO₂). Top left: 7-day moving average observations 1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020. Top right: 7-day moving average observations (orange) and BAU-predicted (grey) 13/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom left: 24-hour average observations minus BAU-predicted 13/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom right: 7-day moving average observations minus BAU-predicted 13/3/2020 to 30/9/2020.



Figure 4.12: Masterton West nitrogen oxides (NOx). Top left: 7-day moving average observations 1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020. Top right: 7-day moving average observations (orange) and BAU-predicted (grey) 13/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom left: 24-hour average observations minus BAU-predicted 13/3/2020 to 30/9/2020. Bottom right: 7-day moving average observations minus BAU-predicted 13/3/2020 to 30/9/2020.





4.3 Observed concentrations of PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5} during COVID-19 Alert Levels compared to long-term mean

Random forest predictive models built using temporal and meteorological variables did not explain sufficient variation in PM to be useful for predicting BAU. Therefore, a simpler approach of comparing average particulate matter concentrations during each Alert Level with the average for the same period during the last four years was used. Comparisons between the short term (2020) period and long-term period (2016 to 2019) are shown as a percentage change and difference in average concentration where the difference between periods was different from zero at the 95% confidence level (Student's t-test) (Figure 4.14 and Appendix A10). Box plots showing the distribution of 24-hour average PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5} by Alert Levels for the two time periods are shown in Appendix A11.



Figure 4.14: Percentage difference⁷ between observed PM and long-term (2016 to 2019) mean across all three sites by Alert Level. Where the percentage difference was not different from zero at the 95% confidence level, the percentage difference is shown as 0%.

To gain further insight on the potential reasons for changes in PM from the long-term average, diurnal plots comparing observations during Alert Levels to those in the past four years were also produced (Figures 4.15 to 4.17).

⁷ LTM – 2020 observations / LTM * 100

 PM_{10} at Wellington central was on average lower during L4, L3 and L2 compared to the same period from 2016 to 2019, with the largest reduction of 17% (-2.0 μ g/m³) observed in L4. $PM_{2.5}$ at Wellington central was 15% (-0.7 μ g/m³) lower in L4 but not statistically different from the long term average during the other Alert Levels. The magnitude of percentage reductions in PM during L4 are much smaller than was observed for the other traffic-related air pollutants (NOx, CO and black carbon) estimated when the impact of meteorology was accounted for by machine learning. Whilst $PM_{2.5}$ over L3, L2 and L1 was not, on average, different from previous years, the diurnal patterns appear to show a higher and later evening peak. The diurnal plots also show that the typical am and pm peaks were occurring later in the day (Figure 4.15).



Figure 4.15: Wellington central PM₁₀ (left) and PM_{2.5} (right) diurnal plots

At Upper Hutt air monitoring station, observed PM_{10} was on average 15% lower in L4 (-1.4 µg/m³) and 17% (-1.9 µg/m³) lower in L3 and 13% lower (-1.6 µg/m³) in L1. These reductions were much smaller than were observed for trafficrelated NOx levels when meteorology was accounted for. The diurnal plots suggest a higher and later evening PM_{10} peak in L2 which is also seen in carbon monoxide consistent with home heating emissions and lower overnight temperatures (Figure 4.15). Although Upper Hutt appeared to have additional wood burning activity the PM_{10} winter average and winter daily PM_{10} maxima in 2020 were the same as in 2019 despite lower average wind speed than in the previous four years.



Figure 4.16: Upper Hutt PM₁₀ (left) and carbon monoxide (right) diurnal plots

Masterton West experienced a 10% decrease (-1.2 μ g/m³) in average PM₁₀ in L4, but saw a 16% (+2.3 μ g/m³) and 30% (+4.8 μ g/m³) increase above average in L3 and L2 respectively. The PM_{2.5} increase in L3 and L2 coincides with the home heating season and appeared to be driven by some days with elevated evening peaks (Figure 4.16). The higher than average in PM_{2.5} in L2 may be related to the lower than average air temperature and wind speed particularly for the overnight period. However the elevated PM_{2.5} levels compared to previous years did not result in more high pollution days than typically observed in previous years. During winter 2020, Masterton West recorded 29 days that were above the World Health Organization guideline of 25 μ g/m³, four fewer than in 2019. Between 2016 and 2019, the annual number of PM2.5 'exceedances' has ranged from 19 in 2016 to 33 in 2019.


Figure 4.17: Masterton West PM₁₀ (left) and PM_{2.5} (right) diurnal plots

4.4 Traffic volumes during COVID-19 Alert Levels compared to 2019

From 2016 to 2019 daily and hourly traffic counts from the Terrace Tunnel and Ngauranga were only weakly or moderately correlated with daily and hourly pollutant levels at Wellington Central (Appendix A9). Finely resolved traffic data, ie, disaggregated by vehicle type and speeds, for the roadside and streets close to the monitoring station were not available to correlate with observed pollutant levels. In this study the traffic counts at Ngauranga and Terrace Tunnel were used to give a general indication of changes from BAU (2019) in traffic activity arising from different Alert Levels (Table 4.1).

Traffic volumes fluctuate depending on time of year being lower during Easter and the December/January holiday period. For comparison with the air pollutant data, 7-day average traffic counts in 2020 are shown as a percentage of 2019 values for Ngauranga SH1 southbound split by heavy and light duty vehicle fleet (Figure 4.11).

Table 4.1: Percentage difference between average daily traffic in 2020 and2019 by Alert Level at NZTA traffic monitoring sites with continuous dataavailable

Location	AADT (2019)	L4	L3	L2	L1	L2/3
Terrace Tunnel southbound NZAT Ref. 01N11074	20,925	-78.8	-38.4	-9.2	-3.6	-5.8
Terrace Tunnel northbound NZTA Ref. 01N21074	26,571	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Ngauranga SH1 southbound NZTA Ref. 01N11068	23,166 (light 96.4%)	-82.7	-54.7	-20.1	-2.6	-4.8
	865 (heavy 3.6%)	-77.2	-20.9	-5.5	+2.3	-6.7
Ngauranga SH2 southbound NZTA Ref. 00210979	22,057 (light 95.6%)	-84.2	-53.7	-20.4	-1.9	-4.3
	1,015 (heavy 4.4%)	-80.9	-22.9	-19.1	-19.1	-26.5



Figure 4.18: 7-day moving average NZTA SH traffic counts as a percentage of 2019 counts by Alert Level 1/3/2020 to 30/9/2020

4.5 Meteorology during COVID-19 Alert Levels compared to previous years

The Random Forest models with R² above 0.75 were able to adequately account for the impact of meteorology on air pollutant concentrations. However, predicting particulate matter concentrations from temporal and meteorological variables was less successful as the influence of meteorology depends on the source of PM and its size fraction (coarse or fine). A semi quantitative analysis was undertaken to investigate whether the meteorological conditions during the different Alert Level periods differed significantly from the same period in previous years. Wind roses showing wind speeds and directions measured at each monitoring site by Alert Level compared to the previous four to five year period are shown in Appendix 12. Differences between average wind speed and temperature by Alert Levels compared to historical values are shown in Appendix 13 and in wind speed and temperature diurnal profiles to aid interpretation in Appendix 14.

A regional analysis of seasonal minimum and maximum temperature and daily mean wind anomalies against the 1981 to 2010 reference period found that during autumn 2020 (MAM) regional temperatures were warmer on average; although Masterton experienced cooler than average night-time temperatures. Virtually all of the region experienced below average winds due to the influence of a blocking anticyclone east of New Zealand (GWRC 2020a). The winter period (JJA) was characterised by a long corridor of anomalous high pressure extending all the way from the sub-Antarctic waters south of Australia to the east of New Zealand. This set up contributed to weakening the normal westerly flow and the southerly fronts, bringing very mild temperatures and prolonged dry periods. Warmer than average temperatures continued for the region, although Masterton night-time temperatures were much closer to average, Virtually all the region experienced well below average wind speeds as a result of the influence of the blocking anticyclone east of New Zealand, with fewer frequent fronts and prolonged stable periods (GWRCb).

The regional analysis was not always consistent with comparisons with previous years based on local meteorological observations from the air monitoring stations because the air monitoring station observations used a shorter and more recent reference period (ie, the previous four or five years) and examined different time periods (ie, duration of different Alert Levels rather than a seasonal average). Compared to previous years, Wellington central, had average wind in L4 but lower than average winds in L3, L2 and L1 and temperatures were cooler than average during L4 and L3. Upper Hutt experienced slightly above average wind speeds in L4 and below average winds in L3, L2 and L1. In Upper Hutt, temperature was cooler than average in L4, L3 and L2, particularly for over-night temperatures. Compared to previous years, Masterton West was windier in L4, the same in L3, and less windy in levels L2 and L1. Masterton air temperatures were cooler in L4, L3, and L2 and about average in L1.

4.6 NO₂ passive diffusion tube monitoring

Due to COVID-19 movement restrictions the NO₂ tubes were unable to be exchanged and therefore were exposed for a two-month period (March to April 2020) instead of the scheduled monthly exchange, which is +/- two days of the first Wednesday of each calendar month. The NO₂ tubes were exposed for 64 days from 2-3 March 2020 to 4 May 2020 which included 33 days of Alert Level 4 and the first nine days of Level 3.

The impact of the COVID-19 lockdown on NO_2 levels measured by the passive monitoring tube network sites was estimated by comparing the two-month average for the March to April 2020 period to that measured in the previous year (March-April 2019). It was not possible to account for differences in meteorology between the two years as the 2-month resolution is too coarse.

Figures 4.19 to 4.21 show the percentage reduction in 2020 NO₂ concentrations relative to 2019. Across all regional monitoring sites (not shown) the percentage reductions ranged from 31% to 67%. The percentage reduction for the average of the triplicate NO₂ tubes (WEL073-WEL075) collocated at Wellington Central air monitoring station was 42% which was also the median percentage reduction for all NO₂ tube sites. Traffic reductions (as measured at Ngauranga SH1 southbound traffic counter) for the March to April period in 2020 were 54% lower than in 2019. It is also likely to be larger uncertainty associated with a 2-monthly average compared to an annual average.

These results show there was high spatial variation in the reductions in trafficrelated air pollution across the region during March-April 2020. Without sitespecific traffic data, it was not possible to explore whether this variation was due to local traffic changes that may not be captured by the NZTA state highway traffic counts. However, there was a strong linear relationship (R²=0.90) between March to April concentrations measured in 2019 and the absolute reduction in NO₂ concentration for each site measured in 2020 (Appendix A15). This suggests that the NO₂ reductions observed across the network were proportional to the magnitude of 2019 concentrations.



Figure 4.19: Wellington City percentage reduction in average NO₂ measured by passive diffusion tubes March-April 2020 compared to March-April 2019



Figure 4.20: Hutt Valley and Porirua percentage reduction in average NO₂ measured by passive diffusion tubes March-April 2020 compared to March-April 2019



Figure 4.21: Masterton percentage reduction in average NO2 measured by passive diffusion tubes March-April 2020 compared to March-April 2019

5. Discussion

5.1 Changes in black carbon and NOx during COVID-19 Alert Levels

Black carbon and NOx at Wellington central air monitoring station had a similar magnitude of reduction (as a percentage change from BAU-predicted) during L4 and L3 (Figure 5.1) which broadly matched the reduction in heavy vehicle traffic on southbound SH1 and SH2 (counted at Ngauranga) (Figure 4.18). During L4 concentrations of black carbon and NOx were both reduced by 71%. GNS Science radiocarbon analysis of weekly grass samples taken at Wellington central air monitoring station found fossil fuel derived CO₂ concentrations dropped by around 75% during L4 (Jocelyn Turnbull, pers. comm. 10/03/2021). This preliminary analysis suggests that roadside black carbon and NOx measurement may be a useful proxy for tracking changes real-world traffic-derived CO₂ measurements. More research is needed to investigate the relationships between local air pollutant and CO₂ measurements.

At Wellington central, BC and NOx followed broadly the same trend until the beginning of September 2020, after which their patterns diverged (Figure 5.1). NOx remained elevated whist BC concentrations declined. It is not possible to explain this divergence using available traffic count data. Black carbon levels returned to almost to BAU in L2 and then were higher than BAU at the beginning of L1. This may reflect an increase in local traffic around Wellington city and the monitoring site that is not captured in the SH count data and/or a change in the usual fleet profile, for example, more light diesel commercial delivery vans. NZ post reported that online retail sales peaked in late April as the country moved to L3 as non-essential purchases could then be delivered. Over L2 and L1 the weekly online spend continued to be well above where it was before lockdown (https://thefulldownload.co.nz/Covid-spotlight).

At Upper Hutt during L4 there was a 69% reduction in NOx compared to BAUpredicted. In contrast to Wellington central, NOx and NO₂ concentrations at Upper Hutt remained lower than BAU throughout L1 and L2/3. This difference between the roadside site in Wellington and urban background site in Upper Hutt is probably a reflection of the Wellington site being influenced by a busy arterial route on which traffic flows quickly returned to near normal, whereas the urban background site is located in a park area away from the direct road influence and so represents the impact of diluted and dispersed aggregate traffic emissions from further afield. Masterton West, whilst showing a similar magnitude in NOx reduction as Wellington central and Upper Hutt during L4, it appears to show a smaller reduction in NOx and NO₂ than seen at Upper Hutt over L3, L2 and L1.

Black carbon data is available in near real-time as the data, and unlike carbon monoxide and NOx, does not require adjustment for instrument drift based on results of monthly or three-monthly calibrations. Black carbon is also chemically inert and is not influenced by atmospheric chemistry. However, there is a relatively short record of black carbon measurements available for building a predictive model that accounts for meteorology which introduces uncertainty in the model for predicting concentrations under meteorological conditions not used for model training. Furthermore, there is only one permanent monitoring station that measures black carbon so it is uncertain how generalisable the black carbon results are to other roadsides in the region.

At Wellington central BC, NOx and NO₂ were substantially higher than predicted for the meteorological conditions on Monday 8 June 2020 (last day of Alert Level 2) and Tuesday 9 June 2020 (first day of Level 1) despite traffic volumes not being back to expected levels on these two days. This may have been due the combination of low wind speeds on those days (0.8 and 0.7 m/s) as well as a possible increase in local traffic activity not captured by the SH traffic counting sites used for comparison.



Figure 5.1: Wellington Central 7-day moving average NOx, black carbon (fossil-fuel) and carbon monoxide (CO) shown as percentage of BAUpredictions with the blue line at 100% which is the air pollutant concentration expected for the time of year and weather conditions under typical (pre COVID-19) traffic emissions

5.2 Changes in nitrogen dioxide and ozone during COVID-19 Alert Levels

Wellington central recorded a percentage decrease of 58.5% in NO₂ during L4 which is similar to that reported (56.9%) for a suburban roadside monitoring site in Henderson, Auckland with comparable ADDT to the Wellington Central site (Patel et al., 2020). The L4 lockdown had the effect of reducing NO₂ levels at the Wellington central roadside to what would typically be measured at the Upper Hutt urban background site for that time of year (ie, 5-7 μ g/m³). Wellington central also measured enhanced ozone levels (+11%) during L4 as reductions in primary NO emissions from lower traffic volumes meant less ozone was being depleted through NOx titration. Higher than expected ozone levels due to reduced NOx during lockdowns overseas have also been reported (Lovrić, et al. 2020).

At Wellington central and Upper Hutt during L4 and L3 NO₂ reductions, as a percentage of BAU-predicted, were less pronounced compared to NOx (Figure 5.2 and 5.3). This can be explained by the non-linear atmospheric chemistry involved when traffic-emitted NO is rapidly oxidised to NO₂ through a reaction with ozone. At Wellington central although concentrations of NO from March to May 2020 were lower than previous years (Figure 5.4) proportionally more of the emitted NO was able to be converted NO₂ as the reaction was not ozone-limited. This finding is consistent with a higher NO₂/NOx ratio from March to July in 2020 compared with previous years (Figure 5.5). Overseas studies have also reported smaller reductions in NO₂ concentration compared to reductions in NO₂ (Shi, et al. 2021).



Figure 5.2: Wellington Central 7-day moving average NOx, nitrogen dioxide (NO_2) and ozone (O_3) shown as percentage of BAU-predictions with the blue line at 100% which is the air pollutant concentration expected for the time of year and weather conditions under typical (pre COVID-19) traffic emissions



Figure 5.3: Upper Hutt 7-day moving average NOx, nitrogen dioxide (NO₂) and carbon monoxide (CO) shown as percentage of BAU-predictions represented with the blue line at 100% which is the air pollutant concentration expected for the time of year and weather conditions under typical (pre-COVID-19) traffic and home heating emissions



Figure 5.4: Masterton West 7-day moving average NOx, nitrogen dioxide (NO₂) and carbon monoxide (CO) shown as percentage of BAU-predictions represented with the blue line at 100% which is the air pollutant concentration expected for the time of year and weather conditions under typical (pre-COVID-19) traffic and home heating emissions



Figure 5.4: Wellington Central diurnal, monthly and weekly variation in NO (ppb) by year January to September. Shading shows 95% confidence interval in mean



Figure 5.5: Wellington central diurnal, monthly and weekly variation in NO₂/NOx (ppb) ratio by year January to September. Shading shows 95% confidence interval in mean

Unexpectedly NO₂ levels at Wellington central were higher than BAU-predicted in L1 and L2/L3 despite no significant increase in SH traffic counts (measured at Ngauranga). This is attributed to a combination of increase in local traffic activity during L1 as suggested by the black carbon data, impact of atypical meteorology not captured by the model's training dataset and enhanced conversion of NO to NO₂ due to high background ozone levels in September 2020.

The RF modelling showed that wind speed is more important than hour of the day (a proxy for emissions) for predicting NO₂, whereas for NOx the reverse is true. Therefore, it is suggested that the higher than BAU-predicted NO₂ levels in L1 are due to meteorological effects not previously captured in the RF models. There was a run of days from 24 July to 3 August 2020 where wind speeds were very low coinciding with high pressure system that lasted for several days resulting in stable atmospheric conditions that typically restrict dispersion and dilution of air pollutant emissions as well as favour ongoing accumulation of NO emissions for conversion to NO₂. Over this period all traffic-related pollutants were elevated and ozone was noticeably depleted.

Measured ozone concentrations in September 2020 (L3/L2) were higher than recorded in the previous two years (Figure 5.6). This could be due to enhanced

stratospheric ozone intrusion, ie, naturally occurring high altitude ozone being transported into the lower atmosphere due to strong gusty westerly winds associated with spring (Adeeb & Shooter, 2004). In Wellington September 2020 was characterised by a "fierce" westerly regime, the windiest since 1990 (Pezza, 2020). If these extreme wind conditions lead to ozone enhancement, then conversion of precursor NO emissions to NO₂ would not be limited by ozone availability resulting in elevated NO₂. However, higher wind speeds also lead to dispersion and therefore dilution of primary NO emissions which lead to lower NO₂ concentrations.



Figure 5.6: Wellington central diurnal, monthly and day of the week variation in ozone (O_3) by year (January to September)

5.3 Changes in carbon monoxide during COVID-19 Alert Levels

Pre COVID-19 and through all the Alert Levels, carbon monoxide concentration measured at Wellington central air monitoring station remained lower than predicted by BAU scenario modelling (Figure 5.1). Carbon monoxide was already lower than normal from 23 December 2019 onwards, most likely due to disruptions to local traffic on nearby Willis Street as sections of road were closed for works needed fix a collapsed wastewater underground pipe.

At the Wellington central air monitoring station the reductions in carbon monoxide (as a percentage change from BAU) closely matched the percentage reductions in daily traffic counts on southbound SH1 and SH2 (measured at Ngauranga) during L4, L3 and L2. However, carbon monoxide levels remained about 20% lower than normal during L1 and L2/L3 despite SH traffic levels being on average 2% to 4% lower than previous year. Smoothed 7-day average carbon monoxide appears to follow the same general upward trajectory as light vehicle counts as SH1 southbound (Ngauranga), but unlike traffic counts, did not return to 100% of BAU during the latter part of L1 (Figure 4.6). Carbon monoxide concentrations may be responding to reduced light vehicle passenger journeys as a consequence of an estimated 13% of Wellington private vehicle commuters continuing to work from home (Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency, 2020).

Carbon monoxide is an indicator of petrol-fuelled vehicles but is no longer widely measured in New Zealand as the concentrations are well below the National Environmental Standard and ambient air quality guidelines due to improved vehicle technologies (Bluett et al. 2016) and progressively stricter emission limits (Bromley & Gray 2017). This analysis shows that, despite low concentration, carbon monoxide remains a useful indicator for traffic-related emissions.

Carbon monoxide at Upper Hutt showed a very different trend than Wellington central with higher than expected concentration in L3 and L2. The increase in CO coincided with the colder winter months and may be the result of increased home heating emissions due to more 'stay at home' behaviour. The Upper Hutt urban residential site is more affected by wood burning than the Wellington roadside site. The 2020 winter diurnal pattern of CO concentration was distinctly different from previous years, showing a higher overnight component and larger morning peak. This may be due to people staying up later and relighting their fires in the morning instead of leaving home for work. The evening PM₁₀ concentration peak was relatively high over L3 and L2 compared to previous years, which is consistent with diurnal profile for wood burner emissions. This analysis shows carbon monoxide is a useful indicator of home heating emissions in an urban area impacted by home heating emissions but with comparatively low PM₁₀ concentrations.

5.4 Changes in PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5} during COVID-19 Alert Levels

Ambient particulate matter is composed of a mixture of sources that are emitted at different times (eg, by hour of day and by season) and arise from both local (eg, wood burning) and regional sources (eg, marine aerosol). The response of PM to meteorology varies by source and time, for example, marine aerosol is ubiquitous in the region and fairly constant throughout the year. However, on shorter time scales, wind speed is an important influence, with higher marine aerosol under high wind speeds and at night higher particulate from wood burning under low wind speeds. RF performs better when there is a dominant source of PM that responds to meteorology in a consistent way.

PM was reduced compared to previous years at all three sites, particularly in L4, which is attributed to lower re-suspended road dust and traffic exhaust particulate correlating with the dramatic reduction in vehicle movements. This is particularly evident at the Wellington central air monitoring site, which is close to the roadside, and therefore expected to have a larger contribution of traffic-derived particulate than the other sites which are more distant from busy roads. The Wellington central site showed a return to 'average' PM₁₀ in L1 coinciding with the return to near-normal traffic counts on the state highway. The relatively smaller reduction in PM compared to the other gaseous traffic-related pollutants is attributed to a larger proportion of PM arising from natural sources than from traffic-related sources.

Masterton West, which typically experiences elevated winter PM due to wood burning, recorded above average $PM_{2.5}$ in Levels 3 and 2. During L2, elevated evening and overnight concentrations were observed which may be linked to more "stay at home' behaviour as well as lower than average overnight temperatures and wind speed increasing atmospheric stability with less

dispersion of emissions occurring. A possible increase in wood burning during L2 was also seen at Upper Hutt, with a higher than average evening PM and carbon monoxide late evening peak. The pollution rose shows lower wind speed and a greater proportion of wind arose from the north-east sector than usual (Figure 5.7). As seen in past years, the north-east direction contributes the most to overall PM concentrations, most likely due to cold air katabatic drainage from the valley head leading to an accumulation of home heating emissions at the Upper Hutt monitoring site.

Likewise, at Wellington central there appeared to be a small increase in $PM_{2.5}$ evening peak in L2 and L1 which may be related to wood burning as the same higher than usual evening peak also appears in black carbon apportioned to biomass burning (Figure 5.8). The impact of the potential increase in wood burning tentatively ascribed to more stay at home behaviour, did not result in any PM_{10} or $PM_{2.5}$ exceedances, despite the lower than average wind speeds across the region and at these sites.



Figure 5.7: Upper Hutt PM₁₀ pollution rose showing the percentage contribution to average winter PM10 (May to August) by wind direction sector



Figure 5.8: Wellington central black carbon from biomass burning diurnal profile by Alert Levels

5.5 Study limitations

As shown by the NO₂ passive diffusion tube network, the likely impacts of changes in traffic activity during Alert Levels on air pollution across the region vary by location. Therefore, results from three air monitoring stations will not capture the range of impacts. Compared to many other countries, NZ has had a relatively short period of disruption which can make trend detection more difficult. There is also the unanswered question of what percentage change or absolute change in pollutant concentrations are environmentally significant versus statistically significant.

As the RF models predict a mean response for pollutant levels there will be more uncertainty in the predictions that for minima and maxima pollutant concentrations. Furthermore, although the models explained between 75% and 88% of the variation, there is still un-explained variation (noise) present. Not all meteorological variables were available for modelling, for example, rainfall which has an important role in removal of air pollutants, especially particulate matter, including black carbon (Cape et al., 2012). Furthermore, there are other meteorological features, such as temperature inversion strength or boundary layer height, which are very relevant for air pollution episodes, but were not available to be used as predictor variables.

Another significant limitation is the lack of site-specific traffic profile data which if available may be able to be more strongly correlated with air pollutant measurements. In future modelled traffic emissions such as annual NOx (kg/km/day) will available at for road links from the NZTA Vehicle Mapping Tool⁸ currently in development. These emissions estimates may prove useful for matching with observed NOx and NO_2 concentrations.

⁸ https://www.nzta.govt.nz/roads-and-rail/highways-information-portal/technical-disciplines/air-quality-climate/planning-and-assessment/vehicleemissions-mapping-tool/

6. Conclusion

This study has shown how concentrations of air pollutants at a roadside monitoring site in Wellington city and urban background sites in Upper Hutt and Masterton responded differently to changes in emissions resulting from the travel, work and social disruptions under COVID 19 Alert Levels. The key findings for the two main sources of pollutant emissions are as follows:

- a) Traffic-related air pollutants and emissions
- A significant reduction in directly emitted tail-pipe traffic-related pollutants (NOx, carbon monoxide and black carbon) occurred during L4 due to dramatically decreased traffic volumes when meteorological effects were accounted for.
- During L4 the reduction in nitrogen dioxide was less pronounced than the other traffic-related air pollutants (black carbon and carbon monoxide) as there was a non-linear response between emissions and pollutant concentrations due to atmospheric chemistry. This phenomena led to higher than expected ozone levels in L4 and higher than expected nitrogen dioxide levels near the roadside as traffic returned to near normal levels in L1.
- There was spatial variation in magnitude of reductions in nitrogen dioxide between sites across the passive diffusion tube monitoring network, but no obvious patterns were found.
- The observed reductions in PM₁₀ during L4 were much less marked than for the other traffic-related air pollutants which is due to PM also arising from non-transport related sources, such as marine aerosol. The L4 reduction in PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5} is most likely due to lower levels of resuspended road dust and PM material from other sources such as construction or road works.
- b) Home heating-heated pollutants and emissions
- Increased stay at home behaviour may have increased the frequency and duration of wood burner use compared to previous years leading to higher than expected residential emissions of particulate matter and carbon monoxide from solid fuel fires. There may have also been an impact of lower than average wind speeds during the winter period leading to conditions that favour build-up of particle air pollutant levels.

The study confirms the usefulness of black carbon, carbon monoxide and nitrogen oxides as indicators of short term temporal trends in traffic-related emissions. The findings also highlight the need for black carbon, NOx and CO monitoring at key passive NO₂ monitoring roadside to help evaluate impacts of changes in mode shifts to active travel, public transport, decarbonisation and new travel patterns, such as people working from home. The NO₂ tube

monitoring data is still the most practical way of tracking trends in exposure to NO_2 , especially in residential areas where people spend most of their time.

Acknowledgements

Many thanks to Darren Li and Rhys Evans (GWRC Environmental Science) for operating and maintaining air quality monitoring sites and instruments. Thank you to Dr Perry Davy (GNS Science) for providing information on the sources of particulate at Wellington Central and for useful feedback and comments on the analysis. Thank you to Dr Nick Talbot (independent consultant and Auckland University researcher) for peer review and recommendations which greatly improved this report.

References

Adeeb, F., & Shooter, D. (2004). Variation of Surface Ozone in the Ambient Air of Auckland, New Zealand. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, *95*(1), 201–220. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:EMAS.0000029904.28706.c0

Anh, V., Duc, H., Azzi, M., (1997). Modeling anthropogenic trends in air quality data. J. Air Waste Manag. Assoc. 47 (1), 66–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10473289.1997</u>. 10464406.

Baldauf, R., Watkins, N., Heist, D., Bailey, C., Rowley, P., & Shores, R. (2009). Near-road air quality monitoring: Factors affecting network design and interpretation of data. *Air Quality, Atmosphere & Health*, 2(1), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11869-009-0028-0</u>

Bromley, A., & Gray, S. (2017). Carbon monoxide changes in Auckland—The effects of government legislation. *Weather and Climate*, *37*(1), 11–22.

Cape, J. N., Coyle, M., & Dumitrean, P. (2012). The atmospheric lifetime of black carbon. *Atmospheric Environment*, *59*, 256–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2012.05.030

Carslaw, D. C. and K. Ropkins. (2012). openair --- an R package for air quality data analysis. Environmental Modelling & Software. Volume 27-28, 52-61.

Chappell, P.R. (2014). The climate and weather of Wellington region. 2nd Edition. NIWA Science and Technology Series 65, 44 pp. Retrieved from: <u>https://niwa.co.nz/node/110337</u>

Davy, P. K. (2007). Composition and sources of aerosol in the Wellington region of New Zealand. PhD Thesis. Victoria University of Wellington.

Davy, P. K., Trompetter, W. J., Markwitz, A. (2011). Concentration, composition and sources of particulate matter in Johnstone Hills Tunnel, Auckland. GNS Science consultancy report; 2010/296. Lower Hutt.

Davy, P. K., Trompetter, W.J. (2018). Heavy metals, black carbon and natural sources of particulate matter in New Zealand. GNS Science consultancy report; 2017/238. Lower Hutt. <u>https://environment.govt.nz/publications/heavy-metals-black-carbon-and-natural-sources-of-particulate-matter-in-new-zealand/</u>

European Environment Agency (2013). Status of black carbon monitoring in ambient air in Europe. Technical Report No 18/2013. Luxembourg. https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/status-of-black-carbon-monitoring

Emission Impossible (2020). National air quality (NO2) monitoring network: Correlations between passive and continuous results 2010 to 2019. Prepared for Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency.

EMPA (2020). Influence of COVID-19 lockdowns on Switzerland's air quality. Retrieved from: <u>https://empa-</u>interim (cuvice, air, quality, and, Covid, 10 html

interim.github.io/empa.interim/swiss air quality and Covid 19.html

Grange, S. K., & Carslaw, D. C. (2019). Using meteorological normalisation to detect interventions in air quality time series. *Science of The Total Environment*, 653, 578–588. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.344</u>

Grange, S., Carslaw, D., Lewis, A., Boleti, E., & Hueglin, C. (2018). Random forest meteorological normalisation models for Swiss PM10 trend analysis. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, *18*, 6223–6239. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-18-6223-2018</u>

GWRC (2020a). Climate and resources summary for the Wellington region. Autumn 2020 summary. Winter 2020 outlook. 26 June 2020. <u>http://www.gw.govt.nz/past-seasonal-climate-and-water-resource-summaries/#2020</u>

GWRC (2020b). Climate and resources summary for the Wellington region. Winter 2020 summary. Spring 2020 outlook. 21 September 2020. <u>http://www.gw.govt.nz/past-seasonal-climate-and-water-resource-summaries/#2020</u>

Health Effects Institute. (2010). Traffic-related air pollution: a critical review of the literature on emissions, exposure, and health effects. HEI Special Report 17. Health Effects Institute, Boston. <u>https://www.healtheffects.org/publication/traffic-related-air-pollution-critical-review-literature-emissions-exposure-and-health</u>.

Janssen, N., Hoek, G., Simic, M., Fischer, P., Bree, L., ten Brink, H., Keuken, M., W Atkinson, R., Ross Anderson, H., Brunekreef, B., & Cassee, F. (2011). *Black Carbon as an Additional Indicator of the Adverse Health Effects of Airborne Particles Compared with PM10 and PM2.5* (Vol. 119). <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1003369</u>

Jephcote, C., Hansell, A. L., Adams, K., & Gulliver, J. (2020). Changes in air quality during COVID-19 'lockdown' in the United Kingdom. *Environmental Pollution*, 116011. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.116011</u>

Kamińska, J. (2018). The use of random forests in modelling short-term air pollution effects based on traffic and meteorological conditions: A case study in Wrocław. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *217*, 164–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.03.094

Kuschel, G. and Sridhar, S. (2020). *National air quality (NO2) monitoring network: Correlations between passive and continuous results 2010 to 2019.* Technical report for Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency prepared by Emission Impossible Ltd, June 2020.

Kroll, J. H., Heald, C. L., Cappa, C. D., Farmer, D. K., Fry, J. L., Murphy, J. G., & Steiner, A. L. (2020). The complex chemical effects of COVID-19 shutdowns on air quality. *Nature Chemistry*, *12*(9), 777–779. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41557-020-0535-z</u>

Lovrić, M., Pavlović, K., Vuković, M., Grange, S. K., Haberl, M., & Kern, R. (2020). Understanding the true effects of the COVID-19 lockdown on air pollution by means of

machine learning. *Environmental Pollution (Barking, Essex : 1987)*, 115900–115900. PubMed. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.115900</u>

McKendry, I.G. (1996). A study of the photochemical pollution potential in New Zealand's major cities. NIWA report AK96076. NIWA, Auckland.

Ministry for the Environment & Stats NZ (2018). New Zealand's Environmental Reporting Series: Our air 2018. ME 1384. Retrieved from www.mfe.govt.nz and www.stats.govt.nz.

Mitchell T. (2020). Air quality monitoring programme: Annual data report, 2019. Greater Wellington Region Council. Available at: <u>https://www.gw.govt.nz/annual-monitoring-reports/2019/air-quality/index.html</u>

Miskell, G., Salmond, J., Longley, I., & Dirks, K. N. (2015). A Novel Approach in Quantifying the Effect of Urban Design Features on Local-Scale Air Pollution in Central Urban Areas. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *49*(15), 9004–9011. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b00476

NZ Transport Agency Waka Kotahi (2020). Covid-19 transport impact. Fieldwork wave 18 deep dive analysis – Wellington. 2 September 2020. Retrieved from: https://www.nzta.govt.nz/resources/Covid-19-impacts-on-transport/

Patel, H., Talbot, N., Salmond, J., Dirks, K., Xie, S., & Davy, P. (2020). Implications for air quality management of changes in air quality during lockdown in Auckland (New Zealand) in response to the 2020 SARS-CoV-2 epidemic. *Science of The Total Environment*, *746*, 141129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141129</u>

Pezza, A. (2020). Climate and water resources summary for the Wellington region. Spring 2020 summary. Summer 2021 outlook. Greater Wellington Regional council. Retrieved from http://www.gw.govt.nz/seasonal-climate-hub/

R Core Team (2020). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/.

Ramanathan, V, & Carmichael, G (2008). Global and regional climate changes due to black carbon. *Nature Geoscience*, *1*, 221–227. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo156</u>.

Sandradewi, J., Prevot, A., Weingartner, E., Schmidhauser, R., Gysel, M., & Baltensperger, U. (2008). *A study of wood burning and traffic aerosols in an Alpine valley using a multi-wavelength Aethalometer* (Vol. 42). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2007.09.034</u>

Shi, Z., Song, C., Liu, B., Lu, G., Xu, J., Van Vu, T., Elliott, R. J. R., Li, W., Bloss, W. J., & Harrison, R. M. (2021). Abrupt but smaller than expected changes in surface air quality attributable to COVID-19 lockdowns. *Science Advances*, *7*(3), eabd6696. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abd6696</u>

Talbot, N., Takada, A., Bingham, A. H., Elder, D., Lay Yee, S., & Golubiewski, N. E. (2021). An investigation of the impacts of a successful COVID-19 response and meteorology on

air quality in New Zealand. *Atmospheric Environment*, 118322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2021.118322</u>

World Health Organization (2006). WHO air quality guidelines for particulate matter, ozone, nitrogen dioxide and sulfur dioxide. Global update 2005. Summary of risk assessment.

World Health Organization (2013). Health effects of particulate matter. Policy implications for countries in eastern Europe, Caucasus and central Asia. Regional Office for Europe. Copenhagen, Denmark. <u>https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/air-quality/publications/2013/health-effects-of-particulate-matter.-policy-implications-for-countries-in-eastern-europe,-caucasus-and-central-asia-2013</u>

World Health Organization (2012). Health effects of black carbon. Regional Office for Europe. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.euro.who.int/en/publications/abstracts/health-effects-of-black-carbon-2012</u>

Wright, M.N., Ziegler A. (2017). ranger: A Fast Implementation of Random Forests for High Dimensional Data in C++ and R. Journal of Statistical Software, 77(1), 1-17. doi:10.18637/jss.v077.i01

Appendix A1: Wellington Central air monitoring site



A1.1: Wellington Central air monitoring site location (lat -41.293605, lon 174.771924)

A1.2: Wellington Central air monitoring station



Appendix A2: Upper Hutt air monitoring site

A2.1: Upper Hutt air monitoring site location (lat -41.121565, lon 175.070358)



A2.2: Upper Hutt air monitoring station



Appendix A3: Masterton West air monitoring site



A3.1: Masterton West air monitoring site location (lat -40.952364, lon 175.646546)

A3.2: Masterton West air monitoring station



Appendix A4: Wellington Central variation in black carbon by source

A4.1: Wellington Central time variation in fossil fuel derived and biomass burning derived black carbon (2017:2019). The observations are conditioned by daylight saving time with non-DST representing the period where wood smoke (biomass burning) may be present and DST representing the summer months without a wood burning source. The two sources are normalised as the wood smoke component is very low compared to the fossil-fuel derived component.



Appendix A5: Air pollutant datasets by air monitoring site

Site and pollutants	Method	Period
Wellington central		
Black carbon	Aethalometer AE33 (Magee Scientific)	1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020
NOx	Chemiluminsecence M200E (API)	1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020
со	Gas Correlation M300E (API)	1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020
O ₃	M400E (API)	12/1/2018 to 30/9/2020
PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$	5030 Sharp and 5014i (Thermo Scientific)	9/1/2016 to 15/1/2018 and 18/1/2018 to 30/09/2020
Upper Hutt		
NOx	Chemiluminsecence M200E (API)	1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020
со	Gas Correlation M300E (API)	1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020
PM ₁₀	FH62 (Thermo Scientific)	1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020
Masterton West		
NOx	Chemiluminsecence M200E (API)	1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020
со	Gas Correlation M300E (API)	1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020
PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$	5014i (Thermo Scientific)	1/1/2016 to 30/9/2020

A5.1: Air pollutant data and monitoring methods

Appendix A6: Wind roses

A6.1: Wind roses (2017 to 2019)





Frequency of counts by wind direction (%)



Frequency of counts by wind direction (%)

Page 58 of 76

Appendix A7: Predictive models

Monitoring sites and pollutants	n (hours)	R ²	Most important predictor variables
Wellington central			
Black carbon	28,404	0.79	hour, ws, weekday
BC fossil-fuel	28,404	0.79	hour, ws, weekday
BC biomass burning	28,403	0.75	hour, ws, temperature /Julian day
NOx	32,001	0.83	hour, ws, weekday
NO ₂	31,426	0.85	ws, hour, Julian day
со	31,885	0.82	hour, ws, Unix date
O ₃	19,078	0.88	ws, Julian day, Unix date/ temperature
PM ₁₀	28,098	0.65	Unix date, Julian day, temperature, rh
PM _{2.5}	27,659	0.45	Julian day, Unix date, temperature, hour
Upper Hutt			
NOx	26,887	0.78	ws, hour, Julian day, temperature
NO ₂	30,389	0.80	ws, hour, temperature
со	30,486	0.84	temperature, Julian day, ws
PM ₁₀	27,354	0.59	hour, temperature, Julian day, rh
Masterton West			
NO _x	26,903	0.70	hour, ws, temperature, Julian day
NO ₂	26,887	0.78	ws, hour, Julian day, temperature
со	26,349	0.78	ws, temperature, Julian day, hour
PM ₁₀	27,076	0.64	hour, temperature, Julian day, ws
PM _{2.5}	27,028	0.66	temperature, hour, Julian day, ws

A7.1: Random forest models grown for pollutants at each monitoring site

Appendix A8: Percentage differences – gases and black carbon

A8.1: Average observed and BAU-predicted pollutant levels for each Alert Level period and percentage change from BAU-predicted

Site & pollutant	Alert Level	Observations	BAU- predictions	Observations minus BAU- predictions	Percentage pollutant change from BAU- predicted	p-value (Student's t.test)
Wellington central						
BC – fossil fuel (µg/m³)	L4	0.199	0.686	-0.49	-71.0	p < 0.001
	L3	0.679	0.854	-0.17	-20.5	p < 0.001
	L2	0.831	0.867	-0.04	-4.1	p < 0.001
	L1	0.903	0.876	0.03	3.0	ns
	L2/L3	0.619	0.639	-0.02	-3.2	ns
NO ₂ (μg/m ³)	L4	5.3	12.7	-7.44	-58.5	p < 0.001
	L3	12.7	14.4	-1.75	-12.1	p < 0.001
	L2	15.33	15.38	-0.06	-0.4	p < 0.001
	L1	18.3	14.9	3.38	22.7	p < 0.001
	L2/L3	15.04	11.65	3.39	29.1	p < 0.001
NOx (ppb)	L4	4.3	14.8	-10.46	-70.7	p < 0.001
	L3	12.4	17.1	-4.69	-27.5	p < 0.001
	L2	14.45	17.70	-3.25	-18.4	p < 0.001
	L1	18.2	17.9	0.26	1.5	ns
	L2/L3	13.70	12.51	1.19	9.5	p < 0.001
CO (mg/m ³)	L4	0.06	0.22	-0.16	-73.2	p < 0.001
	L3	0.11	0.24	-0.13	-52.5	p < 0.001
	L2	0.18	0.24	-0.06	-26.1	p < 0.001
	L1	0.19	0.24	-0.05	-20.4	p < 0.001
	L2/L3	0.15	0.19	-0.04	-21.2	p < 0.001
O₃ (µg/m³)	L4	40.88	36.66	4.22	11.5	p < 0.001
	L3	33.62	34.37	-0.75	-2.2	p < 0.001
	L2	34.80	33.40	1.40	4.2	p < 0.001
	L1	36.00	35.30	0.70	2.0	p < 0.001
	L2/L3	47.71	42.63	5.08	11.9	p < 0.001

Upper Hutt						
NO ₂ (μg/m ³)	L4	3.1	7.1	-3.92	-55.5	p < 0.001
	L3	7.1	9.0	-1.83	-20.4	p < 0.001
	L2	11.7	12.5	-0.77	-6.2	p < 0.001
	L1	9.7	10.8	-1.10	-10.2	p < 0.001
	L2/L3	7.3	8.7	-1.47	-16.9	p < 0.001
NOx (ppb)	L4	2.5	7.8	-5.36	-68.5	p < 0.001
	L3	6.5	10.7	-4.23	-39.4	p < 0.001
	L2	11.0	15.2	-4.20	-27.6	p < 0.001
	L1	9.6	12.1	-2.50	-20.7	p < 0.001
	L2/L3	6.3	7.9	-1.62	-20.4	p < 0.001
CO (mg/m ³)	L4	0.117	0.138	-0.02	-15.4	p < 0.001
	L3	0.244	0.205	0.04	19.0	p < 0.001
	L2	0.469	0.302	0.17	55.5	p < 0.001
	L1	0.333	0.253	0.08	32.0	p < 0.001
	L2/L3	0.195	0.174	0.02	11.8	p < 0.001
Masterton West						
NO ₂ (μg/m ³)	L4	3.5	5.3	-1.73	-34.0	p < 0.001
	L3	7.1	7.1	0.0	0	ns
	L2	8.9	8.8	0.14	1.1	ns
	L1	8.6	8.2	0.37	4.9	p =0.005
	L2/L3	5.5	5.9	-0.40	-6.8	p=0.0012
NOx (ppb)	L4	1.6	4.5	-2.9	-64.4	p < 0.001
	L3	5.2	6.4	-1.2	-18.8	p < 0.001
	L2	7.9	8.4	-0.5	-6.0	p=0.004
	L1	6.9	7.4	-0.5	-6.8	p = 0.03
	L2/L3	3.8	4.8	-1.02	-20.8	p < 0.001
CO (mg/m ³)	L4	0.156	0.185	-0.03	-15.7	p < 0.001
	L3	0.264	0.288	-0.02	-8.3	p = 0.0085
	L2	0.398	0.392	-0.01	1.5	ns
	L1	0.417	0.390	0.03	6.9	p=0.002
	L2/L3	0.232	0.281	-0.05	-17.4	p < 0.001

Appendix A9: Correlations between pollutants and vehicle counts





Appendix A10: Observed and long term average PM levels by Alert Levels

A10.1: Average observed and long term average pollutant levels for each Alert Level period (2020) and percentage change from long term average (2015 to 2019)

Site & pollutant	Alert Level	Observations	Long term average	Observations minus long term average	Percentage pollutant change from long term average	P-value (t-test)
Wellington central						
PM ₁₀ (μg/m ³)	L4	9.9	11.9	-2.0	-16.8%	p < 0.001
	L3	12.7	13.4	-0.7	-5.2%	p < 0.05
	L2	11.0	11.9	-0.9	-7.6%	p < 0.001
	L1	11.6	11.4	0.2	1.8%	ns
PM _{2.5} (μg/m³)	L4	4.1	4.8	-0.7	-14.6%	p < 0.001
	L3	5.8	5.6	0.2	2.6%	ns
	L2	5.5	5.6	-0.1	1.8%	ns
	L1	5.4	5.6	-0.2	-3.6%	ns
Upper Hutt						
PM ₁₀ (μg/m ³)	L4	8.1	9.5	-1.4	-14.7%	p < 0.001
	L3	9.4	11.3	-1.9	-16.8%	p < 0.05
	L2	13.0	13.7	-0.7	-5.1%	ns
	L1	11.2	12.8	-1.6	-12.5%	p < 0.001
Masterton West						
PM ₁₀ (μg/m ³)	L4	10.8	12.0	-1.2	-10%	p < 0.05
	L3	16.6	16.8	-0.2	-1.2%	ns
	L2	22.4	20.0	2.4	12.0%	p < 0.05
	L1	22.6	24.3	-1.7	-7.0%	ns
PM _{2.5} (μg/m ³)	L4	8.2	8.1	0.1	1.2%	ns
	L3	14.5	12.2	2.3	15.9%	p < 0.05
	L2	20.9	16.1	4.8	29.8%	p < 0.05
	L1	20.1	20.3	-0.2	-1.0%	ns

Appendix A11: PM box plots



⊨ Observations 2016 to 2019 📛 Observations 2020



Dbservations 2016 to 2019 🖨 Observations 2020



Dbservations 2015 to 2020 🖨 Observations 2020



📙 Observations 2015 to 2019 븑 Observations 2020


Appendix A.12: Wind roses by alert level period



A.12.1: Wellington central

Proportion contribution to the mean (%)

L3



Proportion contribution to the mean (%)



Proportion contribution to the mean (%)



Proportion contribution to the mean (%)

A12.2: Upper Hutt





L3



Proportion contribution to the mean (%)





L1



Proportion contribution to the mean (%)

A12.3: Masterton West



Proportion contribution to the mean (%)

L3



Proportion contribution to the mean (%)



Proportion contribution to the mean (%)



Proportion contribution to the mean (%)

Appendix A.13: Meteorology: wind speed and temperature averages

[
Period	Parameter	Observations	Observations
		2020	2016 to 2019
L4	Air temperature	14.3**	14.8
	Wind speed	1.7	1.7
	Wind direction	168.5	162.4
L3	Air temperature	13.8**	14.2
	Wind speed	1.6**	1.8
	Wind direction	168.4	162.0
L2	Air temperature	11.4	11.6
	Wind speed	1.4**	1.7
	Wind direction	152.2	169.2
L1	Air temperature	10.4	10.5
	Wind speed	1.5**	1.7
	Wind direction	165.2	169.3

A13.1: Wellington central 1-hour average

A13.2: Upper Hutt 1-hour average

Period	Parameter	Observations	Observations
		2020	2015 to 2019
L4	Air temperature	14.1**	15.0
	Wind speed	2.0*	1.9
	Wind direction	199.6	183.5
L3	Air temperature	13.2**	14.3
	Wind speed	1.7**	2.1
	Wind direction	173.8	189.7
L2	Air temperature	10.3**	11.7
	Wind speed	1.2**	1.5
	Wind direction	156.4	183.2
L1	Air temperature	9.9	10.0
	Wind speed	1.8**	2.0
	Wind direction	157.3	179.4

A13.3: Masterton West 1-hour average

Period	Parameter	Observations	Observations
		2020	2015 to 2019
L4	Air temperature	13.5**	14.1
	Wind speed	2.2**	2.0
	Wind direction	188.3	163.8
L3	Air temperature	11.9*	12.7
	Wind speed	2.0	2.1
	Wind direction	157.1	163.4
L2	Air temperature	9.2*	9.6
	Wind speed	1.6**	2.2
	Wind direction	160.9	184.9
L1	Air temperature	8.8	8.9
	Wind speed	1.9**	2.2
	Wind direction	155.3	176.2

Appendix A14: Meteorology: wind speed and temperature diurnals



A14.1: Wellington central wind speed (left) and temperature (right)







A14.3: Masterton West wind speed (left) and temperature (right)

Appendix 15: Correlation between 2019 and 2020 passive NO₂ monitoring results



A15.1: NO₂ passive diffusion tube sites. Linear regression of 2019 March-April concentration on reduction in concentration observed in 2020 March-April